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A.  IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW 

David Ramirez requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 

13.4(b) of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division Two, in State v. 

David Ramirez, No. 48705-5-II, filed October 24, 2017.  A copy of the 

opinion is attached in an appendix.   

B.  ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1.  The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22, guarantee a 

person accused of a crime the right to the effective assistance of counsel.  

A new trial is required where counsel’s performance at trial was deficient 

and there is a reasonable probability that, but for the inadequate 

performance, the result at trial would have been different.  Should this 

Court accept review where Mr. Ramirez’s sole defense at trial was 

involuntary intoxication but defense counsel asked the jury be instructed 

on voluntary intoxication instead?  RAP 13.4(b).   

2.  A jury is required to find any facts supporting an aggravating 

circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt.  The Court of Appeals has 

previously upheld a jury’s finding that the defendant displayed an 

egregious lack of remorse where the accused relished in killing another 

human being.  Should this Court grant review where this aggravating 

circumstance was found where Mr. Ramirez sought medical attention for 
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hallucinations, touched a nurse’s breast, and then expressed his belief that 

the nurses invited or appreciated his advances?  RAP 13.4(b).   

3.  A trial court must consider a defendant’s individual 

circumstances before imposing discretionary legal financial obligations at 

sentencing.  The evidence suggested Mr. Ramirez had spent considerable 

time in confinement, struggled with drug addiction throughout his life, and 

had a limited work history, yet the trial court found he had the ability to 

pay a total of $2,900 in legal financial obligations.  The Court of Appeals 

found reversal was not required, but one judge dissented after applying a 

de novo standard of review.  Should this Court grant review both to 

determine the appropriate standard of review on appeal and whether 

reversal is required?  RAP 13.4(b). 

4. Mr. Ramirez had a constitutional right to a jury of his peers and 

a fair trial.  Should this Court grant review to determine whether these 

rights were violated when he was prevented from assisting his counsel in 

selecting the jury and juror of Hispanic heritage was not seated on the 

jury?  RAP 13.4(b). 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

David Ramirez had a few drinks with people he met at the bar, 

who then invited him to a party.  2 RP 257.  Shortly after arriving at the 

party, Mr. Ramirez was offered a drink and began hallucinating.  2 RP 
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258-59.  He was extremely embarrassed, but also terrified he was going to 

die.  2 RP 260.  A woman drove him to the emergency room.  2 RP 260. 

At the hospital, Mr. Ramirez informed the registration receptionist 

that he was hallucinating.  1 RP 127.  The triage nurse led Mr. Ramirez 

into an examination room, introduced herself, and offered him a hospital 

gown.  1 RP 134-35.  As she turned toward Mr. Ramirez to give him the 

gown, he reached out and silently grabbed her right breast.  1 RP 135.  

However, he immediately let go and backed away from the nurse, moving 

to the other side of the room.  1 RP 136.  The police were contacted and 

Mr. Ramirez was moved to an examination room reserved for psychiatric 

patients.  1 RP 137, 151. 

When an emergency room technician attempted to draw Mr. 

Ramirez’s blood, Mr. Ramirez told him that based on the way the nurses 

were dressed, he believed they wanted to have sex with him.  1 RP 147.  

The technician believed Mr. Ramirez was masturbating while in the bed.  

1 RP 149.  He also observed that Mr. Ramirez appeared to be under the 

influence of drugs.  1 RP 152.  He noted that Mr. Ramirez was sweating 

profusely and mumbling to himself.  1 RP 152.     

When a security guard arrived, Mr. Ramirez was shouting 

profanities and yelling that he was “not gay.”  1 RP 161.  He told the 

security guard that the nurses should be grateful to be groped.  1 RP 163.  
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When told he had been masturbating, Mr. Ramirez expressed surprise, 

asking the guard, “was I masturbating?”  2 RP 283.      

The physician who treated Mr. Ramirez observed that Mr. Ramirez 

seemed agitated and was speaking quickly.  2 RP 217.  Mr. Ramirez’s 

heart rate and blood pressure were high and he continued to complain of 

hallucinations.  2 RP 218.  Mr. Ramirez told the doctor that he wanted to 

have sex with a nurse.  2 RP 218.  

After the police arrived, a substance that later tested positive for 

methamphetamine was found in Mr. Ramirez’s wallet.  1 RP 192; 2 RP 

246. 

The State charged Mr. Ramirez with third degree assault with 

sexual motivation and possession of methamphetamine.  CP 1-2.  It also 

alleged three additional aggravating circumstances: (1) Mr. Ramirez 

demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse; (2) his prior 

unscored misdemeanor history resulted in a presumptive sentence that was 

clearly too lenient; and (3) he had committed multiple current offenses and 

his high offender score resulted in one of the current offenses going 

unpunished.  CP 25.   

 Mr. Ramirez’s defense at trial was that he was experiencing 

hallucinations as a result of a substance he had consumed involuntarily at 

the party he attended with strangers.  2 RP 259-60, 264.  Although Mr. 
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Ramirez’s attorney relied on these facts to argue for acquittal, he did not 

request the jury be instructed as to involuntary intoxication. 2 RP 329.  

Instead, he successfully argued for the jury to be instructed on voluntary 

intoxication after this instruction was proposed by the State.  2 RP 239-40, 

293-94.   

The jury found Mr. Ramirez guilty of the possession and assault 

charges and found he committed the assault with sexual motivation and 

had displayed an egregious lack of remorse.  CP 63-66.  The trial court 

sentenced Mr. Ramirez to a consecutive sentence totaling 84 months, 

based on the judge’s finding that the unscored misdemeanor history 

resulted in a presumptive sentence that was clearly too lenient and that his 

high offender score resulted in the possession charge going unpunished.  

CP 90.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  App. at 15.   

D.  ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF GRANTING REVIEW 

1. Mr. Ramirez’s attorney rendered ineffective assistance 

of counsel when he requested a jury instruction that 

conflicted with the defense’s theory of the case. 

 

A person accused of a crime has a constitutional right to the 

effective assistance of counsel.  U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; 

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 

657 (1984); State v. Khan, 184 Wn.2d 679, 688, 363 P.3d 577 (2015).  A 

defendant is entitled to a new trial where (1) counsel’s performance at trial 
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was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant.  

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.  While an attorney’s decisions are treated with 

deference, his actions must be reasonable under all the circumstances.  

Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 533-34, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 

(2003).   

Here, defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel 

when he requested the jury be instructed on voluntary intoxication, despite 

the fact it was not legally a defense to the charges against Mr. Ramirez 

and actually conflicted with the theory presented by the defense at trial.  

The Court of Appeals concluded defense counsel reasonably focused “on 

the more credible defense of voluntary intoxication,” but that defense was 

not presented at trial and, as defense counsel acknowledged, was not a 

complete defense to the crime even if supported by the facts.  See Slip Op. 

at 9.  

a. Defense counsel’s performance was deficient. 

 

i. Mr. Ramirez’s defense at trial was that he was not 

criminally responsible for his actions because he had 

been drugged against his will. 

 

Mr. Ramirez was charged with third degree assault by battery with 

sexual motivation and possession of methamphetamine.  CP 1-2, 5.  His 

sole defense to these charges at trial was that he was experiencing 

hallucinations at the time he allegedly grabbed the nurse’s breast and was 
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in possession of the drug.  1 RP 124 (opening argument discussing 

hallucinations); 2 RP 259-60, 264 (Mr. Ramirez’s testimony about the 

hallucinations); 2 RP 329 (relying on the hallucinations in closing 

argument to argue for acquittal).  

The evidence presented by the defense indicated Mr. Ramirez had 

involuntarily ingested the drug that produced the hallucinations.  Mr. 

Ramirez testified he had a disagreement with his wife on the day 

preceding the incident and went to a bar.  2 RP 256-57.  He had 

approximately three to four beers before leaving the bar at 2:00 a.m. with 

people he had just met that night.  2 RP 257-58.  Not long after arriving at 

the home of one of these people, he was given what he believed to be a 

beer and he started experiencing hallucinations.  2 RP 258-59.  One of the 

women at the house then dropped him off at the hospital.  2 RP 260.   

Involuntary intoxication is a complete defense to a crime.  State v. 

Mriglot, 88 Wn.2d 573, 575, 564 P.2d 784 (1977); State v. Stacy, 181 Wn. 

App. 553, 570, 326 P.3d 136 (2014).  A defendant may argue for acquittal 

based on the fact that his involuntary intoxication put him in such a state 

of mind that he did not “know the nature and quality of his act or know 

that his act [was] wrong.”  Mriglot, 88 Wn.2d at 575.  “[O]nce a defendant 

has shown that the degree of his involuntary intoxication meets the 

appropriate insanity test, his criminal capacity is vitiated and the jury 
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never reaches the issue of specific intent.”  Mriglot, 88 Wn.2d at 576.  The 

burden is on the defendant to prove the defense of involuntary intoxication 

by a preponderance of the evidence.  State v. Deer, 175 Wn.2d 725, 736, 

287 P.3d 539 (2012). 

Despite the fact that involuntary intoxication was Mr. Ramirez’s 

sole defense at trial, defense counsel failed to assert this theory to the jury 

and requested the jury be instructed on voluntary intoxication instead. 

ii. Defense counsel initially rejected pursuing a 

diminished capacity defense to the charges against Mr. 

Ramirez. 

 

Prior to trial, the State asked to clarify on the record that Mr. 

Ramirez was not pursuing a diminished capacity defense.  1 RP 19.  

Diminished capacity is an appropriate defense when a defendant argues 

voluntary intoxication impaired his ability to form the requisite level of 

intent.  State v. Thomas, 123 Wn. App. 771, 776, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004).  It 

may be asserted only “when either specific intent or knowledge is an 

element of the crime charged.”1  Id. at 779.  In such cases, the jury may 

consider evidence of diminished capacity to determine whether the 

accused had the capacity to form the requisite mental state.  Id.; see also 

                                            
 1 Traditionally, the rule was that evidence of diminished capacity could negate 

specific intent but not general intent.  State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 919, 16 P.3d 626 

(2001).  However, RCW 9A.08.010 replaced the concepts of specific and general intent 

with four levels of culpability: intent, knowledge, recklessness, and criminal negligence.  

Id.; State v. Allen, 101 Wn.2d 355, 359, 678 P.2d 798 (1984). 
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State v. Marchi, 158 Wn. App. 823, 834, 243 P.3d 556 (2010) (explaining 

that the defense of diminished capacity is treated as a rule of evidence, 

which permits the defense to introduce evidence relevant to the 

individual’s subjective state of mind).  

Addressing the assault charge, defense counsel explained that 

while Mr. Ramirez might take the stand and testify about the 

hallucinations he experienced at the hospital, the defense was not asserting 

a diminished capacity defense because Mr. Ramirez had been charged 

with “a crime of intent.”  1 RP 20.  While defense counsel’s explanation 

was vague, he was correct to consider the nature of the crime when 

considering how to defend against the charges at trial.   

The Court of Appeals has defined assault by battery as “an 

unlawful touching with criminal intent.”  State v. Keend, 140 Wn. App. 

858, 866-67, 166 P.3d 1268 (2007) (quoting State v. Russell, 69 Wn. App. 

237, 246, 848 P.2d 743, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1003, 859 P.2d 603 

(1993)).  It requires the mens rea of intent, but not the specific intent to 

accomplish some further result.  Id. at 866.  “[A]ssault by battery simply 

requires intent to do the physical act constituting assault.”  Id. at 867.  

Similarly, possession of a controlled substance is a strict liability crime.  

Deer, 175 Wn.2d at 735.  Because neither of the crimes alleged by the 

State required specific intent or knowledge, defense counsel properly 
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considered, and rejected, raising diminished capacity due to involuntary 

intoxication as a defense.  Thomas, 123 Wn. App. at 776.    

iii. Despite explicitly rejecting a diminished capacity 

defense, counsel later advocated for the voluntary 

intoxication instruction proposed by the State. 

 

Despite the fact the defense made it clear it would not be pursuing 

a diminished capacity defense, and the evidence at trial supported only an 

involuntary intoxication defense, the State proposed a voluntary 

intoxication instruction.  2 RP 239.  In response to questioning by the 

court the State explained, “[w]ell I assumed that the defendant would ask 

for it, but if he doesn’t want it, I don’t think it’s necessary.”  2 RP 239.  

The court then engaged in the following exchange with defense counsel: 

[Defense counsel]: I don’t have any objection to it. 

 

THE COURT: Well, that’s not what I’m hearing.  What she 

was saying is that if the defendant doesn’t want it, then she 

doesn’t think it needs to be given. 

 

[Prosecutor]: If he is submitting – if he is saying that he 

wants the instruction, then I will submit it. 

 

[Defense counsel]: That’s fine with us. 

 

THE COURT: Do you want it or not? 

 

[Defense counsel]: Yes. 

 

2 RP 239-40.   
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However, before closing arguments, the State asked to be heard on 

the voluntary intoxication instruction again.  2 RP 292.  The deputy 

prosecuting attorney asked to withdraw the instruction, based on her 

understanding that the instruction was only appropriate where voluntary 

intoxication had been asserted as a defense.  2 RP 292-93.  Defense 

counsel argued that the State should not be permitted to withdraw the 

instruction after proposing it and that, in any event, Mr. Ramirez had 

testified to voluntarily drinking beer that night.  2 RP 293.   

The State responded, and the court agreed, that there had been no 

evidence presented that the beers voluntarily consumed by Mr. Ramirez 

caused his hallucinations.  2 RP 294.  Thus, the instruction was 

inappropriate.  2 RP 294.  However, despite this finding by the court, it 

acceded to defense counsel’s wishes after the deputy prosecuting attorney 

acknowledged the State would not be harmed by the instruction.  2 RP 

293-94.      

The State was correct in moving to withdraw the instruction.  

Indeed, as the deputy prosecuting attorney pointed out, the “Note on Use” 

immediately following the pattern jury instruction stated the instruction 

should not be used in cases where involuntary intoxication was claimed.  

11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Inst. Crim. WPIC 18.10 (4th ed. 2016).  If 

nothing else, this should have alerted defense counsel to his error. 
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Defense counsel proposed an unwitting possession instruction as to 

the possession charge, which the Court granted.  2 RP 290-91.  At no point 

did defense counsel request that the jury be instructed as the defense of 

involuntary intoxication.   

iv. Defense counsel’s advocacy for an improper 

instruction, and failure to request the appropriate 

instruction, constituted deficient performance. 

 

While a legitimate trial tactic cannot serve as the basis for a claim 

of ineffective assistance of counsel, the attorney’s trial strategy must be 

based on reasoned decision-making.  In re Pers. Restraint of Hubert, 138 

Wn. App. 924, 928, 158 P.3d 1282 (2007).  This Court has found that a 

failure to request an instruction on a possible defense, which is not based 

upon reasoned decision-making, constitutes ineffective assistance of 

counsel.  Id.    

In Hubert, the defendant was charged with second degree rape 

after he allegedly went into an acquaintance’s bedroom and began having 

sex with her while she slept.  Id. at 927.  According to the defendant, the 

complaining witness was awake and initially receptive to his advances.  

Id. at 929.  Despite the defendant’s testimony to this effect, defense 

counsel failed to raise or argue the “reasonable belief” defense.  Id.  This 

Court held the attorney’s failure to advance the defense presented at trial 

was “plainly deficient performance.”  Id. at 930.     
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 In Hubert, it was apparent the trial attorney’s failure was not a 

strategic decision because the attorney specifically attested he was 

unfamiliar with the statutory defense at the time of the trial.  Id. at 929.  

However, this Court reached the same result in State v. Powell without a 

declaration from defense counsel.  150 Wn. App. 139, 155, 206 P.3d 703 

(2009).  In Powell, the defense attorney’s presentation to the jury 

suggested he was aware of the “reasonable belief” defense.  Id.  Yet he 

failed to request an instruction despite the fact the evidence supported this 

defense, counsel had effectively argued this defense to the jury, and an 

instruction would have been consistent with the defendant’s theory of the 

case.  Id. 

Here, Mr. Ramirez’s defense at trial was involuntary intoxication.  

2 RP 259-60, 264, 329.  Defense counsel recognized this was the defense, 

elicited testimony from Mr. Ramirez about the fact Mr. Ramirez had 

involuntarily ingested a hallucinogen, and relied on these hallucinations in 

arguing for acquittal.  2 RP 259-60, 264, 329.  Yet, just as in Hubert and 

Powell, defense counsel failed to request the jury be instructed on the 

defense’s theory.  Even worse, the trial attorney then requested an 

improper voluntary intoxication instruction over the State’s objection.  2 

RP 239-40.  This instruction only served to undermine Mr. Ramirez’s 

defense at trial, informing the jury: 
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No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary 

intoxication is less criminal by reason of that condition.  

However, evidence of intoxication may be considered in 

determining whether the defendant acted with intent.    

 

CP 55.   

 The language of the voluntary intoxication instruction, combined 

with the lack of any instruction on involuntary intoxication, suggested to 

the jury that it should disregard Mr. Ramirez’s defense at trial.  Defense 

counsel argued during closing argument that the jury should acquit 

because assault by battery was a general intent crime, but that the 

hallucinations negated his intent.  2 RP 329.  However, the jury 

instructions specifically stated voluntary intoxication did not make the act 

any less criminal, and the jury was instructed the only intent at issue for 

the battery charge was the intent “when acting with the objective or 

purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a crime.”  CP 49, 55.  In 

addition, presenting evidence that Mr. Ramirez was involuntarily 

intoxicated while relying on a voluntary intoxication instruction signaled 

to the jury that involuntary intoxication was not a defense to the crime at 

all. 

 This, of course, was incorrect, as involuntary intoxication, unlike 

voluntary intoxication, was a complete defense to the crime.  Mriglot, 88 

Wn.2d at 576; Cf. State v. Coates, 107 Wn.2d 882, 891, 735 P.2d 64 
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(1987) (discussing the fact that voluntary intoxication merely negates 

intent and the burden is always on the State to prove the individual acted 

with the necessary culpable mental state).  Despite the fact the defense’s 

theory at trial was that Mr. Ramirez was involuntarily intoxicated, defense 

counsel failed to advance this defense at trial and further undermined the 

defense by requesting the wrong instruction.  Defense counsel’s 

performance was deficient. 

b. Trial counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced Mr. 

Ramirez. 

 

Where there is a reasonable possibility that but for counsel’s 

inadequate performance, the result would have been different, reversal is 

required.  Khan, 129 Wn.2d at 688.  In Hubert, this Court reversed 

because it determined the “the jury had no way to understand the legal 

significance of the evidence” supporting the defense’s theory at trial.  

Hubert, 138 Wn. App. at 932.  Similar to in Hubert, defense counsel failed 

to provide the jury with the information it needed to acquit, based on the 

defense presented by Mr. Ramirez.  If the jury believed that Mr. Ramirez 

was involuntary intoxicated that night, it had no instructions on what to do 

with that information.  In addition, the instructions that were provided to 

the jury suggested that it should disregard any claim of involuntary 

intoxication, rather than identify it as a complete defense to the crime. 
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Under these circumstances, there is a reasonable possibility the 

result at trial would have been different if not for counsel’s deficient 

performance.  This Court should accept review.  RAP 13.4(b).  

2. The State presented insufficient evidence to support the jury’s 

finding that Mr. Ramirez demonstrated an “egregious lack of 

remorse.”  

 

 The State alleged the aggravating fact at trial that Mr. Ramirez 

“demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse” based upon 

statements the State claimed he made after allegedly assaulting the nurse.  

CP 25.  The jury returned a special interrogatory in the affirmative, and 

this finding authorized the trial court to impose an exceptional sentence.2  

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(q). 

 A jury is required to find any facts supporting an aggravating 

circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 

123, 240 P.3d 143 (2010); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.  

 The language of RCW 9.94A.535(3)(q) was designed to codify the 

existing common law, but “egregious lack of remorse” has not been 

defined by our courts and is not defined within the statute.  Laws of 2005, 

ch. 142, § 23.  However, this Court has held that “[t]he mundane lack of 

remorse found in run-of-the-mill criminals is not sufficient to aggravate an 

                                            
 2 The court did not rely on this aggravating factor to impose the exceptional 

sentence against Mr. Ramirez.  CP 81, 90.  Nonetheless, the issue remains that the jury 

found this aggravating circumstance in the absence of sufficient evidence. 
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offense.”  State v. Garibay, 67 Wn. App. 773, 781, 841 P.2d 49 (1992) 

(abrogated on other grounds by State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 919 P.2d 

69 (1996)).  Any alleged lack of remorse must be “aggravated or 

egregious.”  Id.  

In the absence of a statutory definition, a term must be given its 

plain and ordinary meaning ascertained from a standard dictionary.  State 

v. Zigan, 166 Wn. App. 597, 602, 270 P.3d 625 (2012).  “Egregious” is 

defined as conspicuously, especially, or flagrantly bad.3   

Prior decisions illuminate what it has found to be conspicuously, 

especially, or fragrantly bad behavior, as opposed to merely a 

demonstration of a lack of remorse.  For example, it found a defendant’s 

conduct demonstrated an “egregious” lack of remorse where he 

intentionally ran into a woman on a motorcycle, killing her instantly, and 

then laughed with officers at the scene and asked the woman’s husband if 

he was “ready to bleed?”  Zigan, 166 Wn. App. at 602.  This Court also 

found an “egregious” lack of remorse where the defendant joked with her 

husband’s killer about the sounds her husband made as he was dying.  

State v. Wood, 57 Wn. App. 792, 795, 790 P.2d 220 (1990); see also State 

v. Erickson, 108 Wn. App. 732, 739-40, 33 P.3d 85 (2001) (egregious lack 

                                            
 3 http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/egregious 

http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/egregious
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of remorse where the defendant bragged and laughed about the murder 

and told police he felt no remorse).  In each instance, the accused 

expressed pleasure or enjoyment in the victim’s death. 

The Court of Appeals acknowledged this precedent but found the 

evidence against Mr. Ramirez sufficient because he “belittled the staff” at 

the hospital and suggested his actions were welcome, thereby increasing 

the staff’s “anxiety and suffering.”  Slip Op. at 12.  However, these actions 

did not rise to the level present in cases where the court previously found 

an egregious lack of remorse, such as Zigan or Wood.  This Court should 

grant review.  RAP 13.4(b). 

3. The Court of Appeals was divided on the appropriate 

standard of review when evaluating a trial court’s 

decision to impose discretionary legal financial 

obligations; under either standard, reversal was 

required here. 

 

Under RCW 10.01.160(3), a court may order a defendant to pay 

legal financial obligations (LFOs), but it “shall not order a defendant to 

pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them.”  At 

sentencing, the trial court ordered Mr. Ramirez to pay a total of $2,900 in 

legal financial obligations, which included discretionary costs of $2,100 

for his court appointed attorney and $200 in court costs.  CP 83. 

On appeal, Mr. Ramirez argued the trial court failed to conduct an 

individual analysis of Mr. Ramirez’s circumstances before imposing these 
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discretionary financial obligations.  The trial court stated, “I’m ordering – 

finding that he has the ability to earn money and make small payments on 

his financial obligations.”  2 RP 375.  It ordered Mr. Ramirez pay $25 per 

month but offered no explanation for why it believed Mr. Ramirez had the 

ability to earn enough money to afford $2,900 in LFOs.  2 RP 376.  

Indeed, the evidence showed Mr. Ramirez suffered from addiction, had 

repeatedly returned to prison throughout his life, and had opened a bank 

account for the first time before being arrested for the incident at issue.  2 

RP 360, 368-69.   

Applying an abuse of discretion standard, the Court of Appeals 

found the trial court’s inquiry sufficient.  Slip Op. at 12-13.  However, a 

dissenting judge determined the appropriate standard of review on appeal 

is de novo.  Slip Op. at 16-19.  Applying that standard, the dissenting 

judge found the imposition of the LFOs should be reversed and the case 

remanded.  Slip Op. at 16.  This Court should grant review to determine 

the appropriate standard of review and whether reversal of the LFOs in 

Mr. Ramirez’s case is required.  RAP 13.4(b).   
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4. Mr. Ramirez’s constitutional rights to a jury of his peers and a 

fair trial were violated. 
 

 As Mr. Ramirez explained in his Statement of Additional Grounds 

for Review, his constitutional rights to a jury of his peers and a fair trial 

were violated when he was not able to assist his counsel in selecting the 

jury and none of the jurors were of Hispanic heritage.  U.S. Const. 

amends. V, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; State v. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d 734, 746, 

743 P.2d 210 (1987); Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 538, 95 S. Ct. 

692, 701, 42 L. Ed. 2d. 690 (1975).  This Court should accept review.  

RAP 13.4(b). 

E.  CONCLUSION 

 For all of the reasons stated above, this Court should grant review 

of the Court of Appeals opinion affirming David Ramirez’s convictions. 

 DATED this 27th day of November, 2017. 

    Respectfully submitted, 
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SUTTON, J. — David A. Ramirez appeals his conviction for assault in the third degree with 

sexual motivation and the jury’s special verdict that he displayed an egregious lack of remorse.  

We hold that (1) defense counsel was not deficient in failing to request an involuntary intoxication 

instruction, (2) sufficient evidence supported the jury’s special verdict that Ramirez displayed an 

egregious lack of remorse, (3) the trial court did not err in imposing discretionary legal financial 

obligations (LFOs), and (4) Ramirez’s statement of additional grounds (SAG) claims have no 

merit.  Thus, we affirm.  

FACTS 

I.  BACKGROUND 

 Ramirez went to a bar in Centralia on the night of September 18, 2015, and had a few 

drinks.  He met some people at the bar who invited him back to their house after the bar closed.  

After drinking a beer that he was offered at their house, Ramirez began hallucinating.  He saw 

snakes and was afraid of the cats in the home because he did not know what they were.  Ramirez 
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had never hallucinated before and thought he was going to die.  A woman at the house drove him 

to the hospital.   

On arrival at the hospital, Ramirez told a receptionist that he was not feeling right, was 

seeing things, and had done too many drugs.  The receptionist notified the nurses’ station that 

Ramirez was hallucinating.  Wendy Wilkinson, an emergency room (ER) nurse, responded to 

assist Ramirez, and walked him back to an examination room.  Once inside the examination room, 

Wilkinson turned toward Ramirez to hand him a hospital gown and he reached out and grabbed 

her breast.  After a few seconds, he let go and backed away to the other side of the room.  An ER 

technician walked into the room just as Ramirez was releasing his hand from Wilkinson’s breast.  

Wilkinson immediately left the room and contacted security.   

Immediately after the incident, Ramirez was very agitated, moved around a great deal, and 

mumbled “a bunch of stuff.”  I Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 147.  Ramirez shouted 

profanities as a security officer entered the room; when the security officer identified himself, 

Ramirez shouted that he was not gay.  Ramirez was moved to an examination room reserved for 

psychiatric patients and security officers observed him.   

While in the second examination room, Ramirez made comments as women walked by his 

room:  “Look at her butt.  They are glad I groped her.  They should be thankful.  They should be 

thanking me.”  I VRP at 163.  During this period, his hands were under the blanket that covered 

him and he appeared to be masturbating.  The ER technician arrived as Ramirez appeared to be 

masturbating.  As the technician was drawing Ramirez’s blood, Ramirez commented “numerous 

times” that the way the nurses were dressed indicated that they wanted to have sex with him. 

I VRP at 148.  Ramirez also stated, “over and over” that there was something going on—
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“something about a program”—that people weren’t going to be happy with what they were doing.  

I VRP at 147, 150.  Ramirez was “antsy” and “sweating profusely.”  I VRP at 152.  When a doctor 

arrived and asked Ramirez why he was in the ER, Ramirez stated that he wanted to have sex with 

a female nurse, and that he was tired of masturbating.  He declined treatment for the hallucinations, 

or for blood or lab work. 

Two police officers arrived and when one asked Ramirez what was going on, Ramirez 

stated, “Nothing, dog.”  II VRP at 287.  When asked why he grabbed the nurse’s breast, Ramirez 

replied, “If that’s what she want (sic) to say.”  II VRP at 287.  When asked why he had been 

masturbating, Ramirez stated, “Whatever, dog.  Was I masturbating?”  II VRP at 288.  Ramirez 

was arrested for assaulting Wilkinson.   

As the officers prepared to dress Ramirez for transport, they searched his clothing for 

weapons and contraband.  The officers found a glass pipe and two packets containing meth-

amphetamine.  In response to the officers’ discovery of the drugs, Ramirez stated that they had 

been given to him and he was going to have them tested.  Ramirez was charged with assault in the 

third degree with sexual motivation and possession of a controlled substance—methamphetamine.  

The State sought an exceptional sentence based on four aggravating circumstances, including that 

Ramirez demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse for the assault.   

II.  PROCEDURE 

A.  TRIAL 

 Ramirez, the ER receptionist, the ER technician, Wilkinson, the doctor, the security officer 

and the police officers testified to the above facts.  Ramirez also testified that he was scared during 

the hallucinations and went to the ER for help.  When asked during direct examination whether he 
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took any drugs the day of the incident, Ramirez stated, “No, not willingly.  I don’t know what was 

given to me.”  II VRP at 273.  Ramirez testified that he believed the people at the house gave him 

something without his knowledge.  He also testified that he had used methamphetamine in the 

past, but had never hallucinated.  When asked whether he was in possession of methamphetamine 

or a pipe during the incident, Ramirez stated, “Not that I knew of” and “Not that I was aware of.”  

II VRP at 277.  Ramirez also testified that he did not remember seeing any of the witnesses that 

testified at trial, except for one of the police officers.  He stated that he was “in a delusional state.”  

II VRP at 279.  Ramirez also testified that he remembered that when he left the house to go to the 

ER it was daylight and children were getting on school buses.   

 As to Ramirez’s demeanor, the ER receptionist testified that “[h]e was a little slow” in 

carrying on a conversation.  I VRP at 127.  The security officer testified that Ramirez was 

“coherent” and “knew where he was.”  I VRP at 165.  One of the police officers thought Ramirez 

“[s]eemed rather fidgety, a little agitated,” but that “[h]e was controlling himself.”  I VRP at 182, 

184.  The security officer also testified that they maintained a security presence after the police 

officers arrived “to relieve the anxiety of staff, because staff were really uncomfortable with [] 

Ramirez.”  I VRP at 164. 
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B.  JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

 The trial court instructed the jury on assault, unwitting possession of a controlled substance 

as proposed by defense counsel, and voluntary intoxication, as agreed to by defense counsel.1  

                                                 
1 The assault instructions stated, 

 

A person commits the crime of assault in the third degree when he assaults 

a nurse who was performing her nursing duties at the time of the assault. 

 

CP at 46 (Jury Instr. No. 5). 

 An assault is an intentional touching of another person, that is harmful or 

offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person.  A 

touching is offensive if the touching would offend an ordinary person who is not 

unduly sensitive. 

 

CP at 48 (Jury Instr. No. 7). 

 A person acts with intent or intentionally when acting with the objective or 

purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a crime. 

 

CP at 49 (Jury Instr. No. 8).   

The unwitting possession instruction stated, 

 A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the 

possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if a 

person did not know that the substance was in his possession or did not know the 

nature of the substance.   

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the substance was possessed unwittingly.  Preponderance of the evidence 

means that you must be persuaded, considering all of the evidence in the case, that 

it is more probably true than not true. 

 

CP at 56 (Jury Instr. No. 15). 
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Defense counsel did not originally propose a voluntary intoxication instruction, but the State did 

propose one assuming that the defense would propose the instruction.  Ultimately, defense counsel 

agreed to the instruction proposed by the State.  Defense counsel never proposed an involuntary 

intoxication instruction.   

C.  CLOSING ARGUMENT 

 

 During closing argument, defense counsel argued that “the condition [Ramirez] was in on 

that day: Disheveled, really kind of not knowing what is going on or where he is, [was] somebody 

who was under the influence of narcotics.”  II VRP at 321.  Defense counsel also argued that 

Ramirez’s difficulty in answering the prosecutor’s questions about details on the day in question 

was “evidence of a person who can’t remember what was happening.”  II VRP at 323.  Defense 

counsel emphasized that Ramirez was having hallucinations and that the witnesses testified that 

his demeanor reflected someone who was under the influence.  Defense counsel commented on 

Ramirez’s state of mind: 

My client was not in a state of mind where he could have formed that intent due to 

the fact that he was under the influence of these drugs. 

 

 My client says he doesn’t know where the drugs came from.  There was a 

mention in testimony that my client brought those with him.  Somebody had given 

them to him, I believe, but he did mention that he brought them to have them tested 

to see what they were.  He didn’t know what they were, didn’t know if that’s what 

was causing him to have hallucinations.   

                                                 

The voluntary intoxication instructed stated, 

 No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication is 

less criminal by reason of that condition.  However, evidence of intoxication may 

be considered in determining whether the defendant acted with intent. 

 

CP at 55 (Jury Inst. No. 14).   
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II VRP at 329-30. 

D.  VERDICT 

 The jury found Ramirez guilty of both charges, assault in the third degree and possession 

of a controlled substance.  The jury also found by special verdict that he committed the assault 

with sexual motivation and that he had displayed an egregious lack of remorse.   

E.  SENTENCING 

At sentencing, Ramirez advised the court that, prior to his arrest, he had a temporary job 

working for a nursery, was paying all of the household bills, had opened a bank account for the 

first time in his life, and “was just getting on track.”  II VRP at 360.  Ramirez also told the court 

that although he was working a minimum wage job it “was fine because it took care of everything.”  

II VRP at 363.  The court imposed discretionary LFOs of $2,100 in attorney fees and $200 in court 

costs.  Ramirez did not object.  Ramirez appeals.   

ANALYSIS 

I.  INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Ramirez argues that defense counsel’s failure to propose an involuntary intoxication 

instruction was deficient and prejudiced him.  He argues prejudice, because trial counsel failed to 

provide the jury with the instruction it needed to acquit Ramirez if they believed that he did not 

voluntarily take drugs.  Ramirez argues that defense counsel advocated for the voluntary 

intoxication instruction proposed by the State and given by the court, which was inconsistent with 

his defense theory of the case.  He argues that if the jury believed his testimony, that he did not 

voluntarily ingest the drugs, the jury had no instruction on involuntary intoxication from which to 
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acquit him on the assault charge.2  The State argues that defense counsel’s failure to propose the 

instruction on involuntary intoxication was a reasonable strategic decision.  The State claims it 

was reasonable because defense counsel focused on the more credible defense that, due to 

Ramirez’s intoxication, he was unable to form the requisite intent to assault the nurse, regardless 

of whether his intoxication was voluntary or involuntary.  We agree with the State.   

 We begin with a strong presumption that counsel’s representation was reasonable.  State v. 

Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).  To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim 

regarding defense counsel’s failure to request a jury instruction, the defendant must show that he 

was entitled to the instruction, counsel’s performance was deficient in failing to request it, and the 

failure to request the instruction caused prejudice.  Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 32-33 (applying Strickland 

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed 3d 674 (1984)).  Performance is deficient 

if, considering all the circumstances, the performance falls “‘below an objective standard of 

reasonableness.’”  Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 33 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88).   

 Legitimate trial tactics and strategies do not constitute deficient performance.  State v. 

Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).  Jury instructions are sufficient if they correctly 

state the law, are not misleading, and allow the parties to argue their respective theories of the case.  

State v. Stacy, 181 Wn. App. 553, 569, 326 P.3d 136 (2014).   

  

                                                 
2 Ramirez also argues that the voluntary intoxication instruction was improper because that 

instruction should not be given where involuntary intoxication is claimed by the defendant, but he 

does not assign error on that basis.  Thus, under RAP 10.3(a)(4), we do not consider this argument.  

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019742148&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I4f3953fc300311e5a795ac035416da91&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019742148&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I4f3953fc300311e5a795ac035416da91&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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 Here, the court correctly instructed the jury that in order to find Ramirez guilty of assault 

in the third degree, they needed to find beyond a reasonable doubt that he assaulted Wilkinson.  

The court’s instructions defined assault as “an intentional touching of another person.”  CP at 48.  

Thus, if the jury found that Ramirez lacked the requisite intent due to his voluntary intoxication, 

he would be found not guilty.  Further, juries are presumed to follow the court’s instructions.  State 

v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 766, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).    

Here, defense counsel’s strategy was to focus on the more credible defense of voluntary 

intoxication, that Ramirez’s intoxication prevented him from forming an intent to assault 

Wilkinson.  This strategy was reasonable.  Defense counsel could have reasoned that presenting 

both defenses would have had potential to confuse the jury.  Further, the evidence presented to the 

jury, was that Ramirez had previously used drugs, and that he had possessed drugs and drug 

paraphernalia at the hospital.  It is possible that a jury would be unwilling to believe that Ramirez 

was slipped drugs.  Also, it was perfectly reasonable for defense counsel to pursue the “voluntary 

intoxication” instruction to negate the intent element of assault as it would have had the same effect 

as the “involuntary” instruction if the jury believed Ramirez.  Therefore, because defense counsel’s 

strategy was reasonable, the failure to propose the involuntary intoxication instruction was not 

deficient.  Therefore, this argument fails and we affirm the conviction of assault. 

II. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

 Ramirez next argues that there is insufficient evidence to support the jury’s special verdict 

that he displayed an egregious lack of remorse as to the assault charge.  The State argues that 

Ramirez’s words and conduct at the ER showed an egregious lack of remorse and extreme 

indifference to the harm resulting from his assault of Wilkinson.  We agree with the State. 
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 The facts supporting an aggravating factor must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable 

doubt.  RCW 9.94A.537(3); State v. Zigan, 166 Wn. App. 597, 601, 270 P.3d 625 (2012).  We 

review a challenge to a jury’s special verdict of an aggravating factor under the same standard as 

we review a claim of insufficient evidence to support the elements of the crime.  State v. Stubbs, 

170 Wn.2d 117, 123, 240 P.3d 143 (2010).  A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the 

evidence presented at trial admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all reasonable inferences 

from the evidence in favor of the State.  State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 15, 391 P.3d, 

417 (2017).  We must determine whether, when reviewing the evidence in a light most favorable 

to the State, any rational jury could have found the presence of the aggravating circumstances 

beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 752, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).  

Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable.  Yates, 161 Wn.2d at 752.  We 

defer to the fact finder on issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and the 

persuasiveness of the evidence.  State v. B.J.S., 140 Wn. App. 91, 97, 169 P.3d 34 (2007). 

 Division Three of this court has held that a defendant’s lack of remorse was sufficiently 

egregious where he bragged and laughed about the murder he committed, thought the killing was 

funny, joked about being on television for the murder, and told police he felt no remorse.  State v. 

Erickson, 108 Wn. App. 732, 739–40, 33 P.3d 85 (2001).  We have held a defendant’s lack of 

remorse to be sufficiently egregious when after a defendant’s boyfriend shot her husband, the 

defendant joked with her boyfriend about the sounds her husband made after he had been shot; 

and when she met another boyfriend’s family ten days after her husband’s death.  State v. Wood, 

57 Wn. App. 792, 795, 790 P.2d 220 (1990).  

 Here, the trial court instructed the jury that 
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 [a]n egregious lack of remorse means that the defendant’s words or conduct 

demonstrated extreme indifference to harm resulting from the crime. In 

determining whether the defendant displayed an egregious lack of remorse, you 

may consider whether the defendant’s words or conduct (a) increased the suffering 

of others beyond that caused by the crime itself; (b) were of a belittling nature with 

respect to the harm suffered by the victim; or (c) reflected an ongoing indifference 

to such harm. 

 

 A defendant does not demonstrate an egregious lack of remorse by denying 

guilt, remaining silent, asserting a defense to the charged crime, or failing to accept 

responsibility for the crime. 

 

CP at 62 (Jury Instr. No. 20). 

 Witnesses testified that Ramirez checked into the ER claiming he was hallucinating.  After 

Wilkinson escorted Ramirez to an examination room and attempted to hand him a gown, he 

grabbed her breast and let go after a few seconds, and Wilkinson called security.  Ramirez was 

moved to another room and monitored by security guards.  While being seen by the ER technician, 

the technician testified that Ramirez made comments that, based on how the nurses were dressed, 

they wanted to have sex with him.  The security officer testified that Ramirez made “rude 

comments” about women as they passed by his room: “Look at her butt.  They are glad I groped 

her.  They should be thankful.  They should be thanking me.”  I VRP at 163.  During this time, 

security observed that, for an extended period of time, Ramirez was making movements under the 

hospital blanket consistent with masturbation.  The security officer also testified that hospital staff 

were anxious because of Ramirez’s conduct.  Finally, the ER doctor who examined Ramirez 

testified that when he asked Ramirez why he was in the ER, he said that he wanted to have sex 

with a woman, specifically a nurse, and that he was tired of masturbating.   

Ramirez’s comments and masturbation in front of people while in the ER, belittled the staff 

and other women passing by his room.  He also commented that his actions were welcome and the 
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recipient of his actions was grateful, which increased the anxiety and suffering of ER staff.  The 

nature and quality of the comments and conduct reflected an ongoing indifference to the harm he 

caused from assaulting Wilkinson.  Because sufficient evidence supports the jury’s special verdict 

that Ramirez displayed an egregious lack of remorse beyond a reasonable doubt, Ramirez’s claim 

fails.  Thus, we affirm the jury’s special verdict. 

III.  LFOS 

 Ramirez argues for the first time on appeal that the sentencing court failed to make an 

adequate inquiry into his ability to pay before imposing discretionary LFO’s as required under 

Blazina.3  We disagree. 

 Appellate courts “may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial 

court,” and we are not required to reach this challenge here because Ramirez did not object at trial.  

RAP 2.5(a).  We may also exercise our discretion to reach Blazina-based challenges to 

discretionary LFOs for the first time on appeal.  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 835.  Here, we choose to 

exercise our discretion to review Ramirez’s discretionary LFOs. 

We review a decision to impose discretionary LFOs for an abuse of discretion.  State v. 

Clark, 191 Wn. App. 369, 372, 362 P.3d 309 (2015).  A decision is an abuse of discretion when it 

is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons.  Clark, 191 Wn. App. at 372.  Before 

imposing discretionary LFOs, the court must make an individualized inquiry into the defendant’s 

present and future ability to pay LFOs. RCW 10.01.160(3); Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 837-38.  “In 

                                                 
3 State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 837-38, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).  

 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2037649789&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I774230305bc911e794a1f7ff5c621124&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2037649789&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I774230305bc911e794a1f7ff5c621124&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)


No. 48705-5-II 

 

 

13 

determining the amount and the method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the 

financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will 

impose.”  RCW 10.01.160(3).  The court must conduct an adequate inquiry4 by considering factors 

including whether the defendant meets the standard for indigency under GR 34, the length of 

incarceration, and the defendant’s other debts, including restitution.  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 

at 838-39. 

 Here, the court considered that Ramirez had recently been released from custody, was 

working in a minimum wage job, and had been paying his household bills.  Ramirez also told the 

court that he had opened a bank account for the first time in his life and “was just getting on track,” 

II VRP at 360.  He added that although he was working a minimum wage job “it was fine because 

it took care of everything.”  II VRP at 363.  Thus, we hold that the court conducted an adequate 

individualized inquiry and did not err in imposing the discretionary LFOs. 

IV.  SAG 

 In his SAG, Ramirez claims that the jury did not understand “the right story of what 

happened” to him.  SAG, Ground 1.  He cites to his trial testimony that he was given an unknown 

substance that made him hallucinate, and argues that he did not receive any tests or treatment at 

the hospital.  Here, Ramirez fails to identify any specific right that was violated related to his first 

SAG claim.  Because Ramirez testified, the jury was able to assess his credibility and the weight 

                                                 
4  Whether or not a trial court makes an individualized inquiry is reviewed de novo; however, if 

the court does make an inquiry, then we review a trial court’s imposition of discretionary LFO’s 

for an abuse of discretion. 
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of his testimony.  Thus, he was able to argue his theory that his intoxication prevented him from 

forming the intent to assault Wilkinson.   

 Ramirez also claims that the absence of a Hispanic juror violated his right to a jury of his 

peers, and he was not able to assist in selecting the jury which violated his right to a fair trial.   

 We review constitutional claims de novo.  State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491, 309 P.3d 

482 (2013).  The United States Constitution, and the Washington State Constitution guarantee 

persons accused of a crime the right to a fair trial.  U.S. CONST. amends. V, XIV; WASH. CONST. 

art. I § 3; State v. Statler, 160 Wn. App. 622, 637, 248 P.3d 165, 172 (2011).  Further, our Supreme 

Court has held that a criminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to a trial by a jury of one's 

peers drawn from a source fairly representative of the community.  State v. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d 734, 

746, 743 P.2d 210 (1987).  Thus, we review the denial of a right to a jury of one’s peers and a right 

to a fair trial de novo.  “The absence of any particular group of people on a jury does not violate a 

defendant’s right to a jury of his peers, unless there are circumstances indicating purposeful 

discriminatory exclusion.”  State v. Barron, 139 Wn. App. 266, 280, 160 P.3d 1077 (2007).  

“Whether to keep a prospective juror on the jury panel or whether to dismiss a juror often is based 

on the trial counsel’s experience, intuition, strategy, and discretion.”  State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. 

App. 275, 285, 374 P.3d 278, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1020 (2016).  

 Ramirez cites no evidence of discriminatory exclusion in the selection of the jury, and jury 

selection is a strategic decision within the purview of defense counsel.  Therefore, Ramirez’s right 

to present a defense to a jury of his peers and right to a fair trial were not violated.  Thus, we hold 

that his SAG claims have no merit.  
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 We affirm.5 

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

  

 SUTTON, J.  

I concur:  

  

MELNICK, J.   

 

  

                                                 
5 Ramirez also requests that we decline to impose appellate costs.  We refer the issue of appellate 

costs to a commissioner or clerk of this court under RAP 14.2.  Accordingly, a commissioner of 

this court will consider whether to award appellate costs if the State files a cost bill and the 

defendant objects to it.   
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 BJORGEN, C.J. (dissenting) — Whether a trial court made an adequate inquiry into a 

defendant’s ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) should be reviewed de 

novo, not for an abuse of discretion.  Under a de novo review, the trial court’s consideration of 

David Ramirez’s ability to pay LFOs fell short of the standards mandated by State v. Blazina, 182 

Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).  Therefore, I would reverse the imposition of LFOs and remand 

for the trial court to determine whether LFOs should be imposed, following the standards in 

Blazina. 

 The majority opinion cites State v. Clark, 191 Wn. App. 369, 372, 362 P.3d 309 (2015), 

for the proposition that we review a decision to impose discretionary LFOs for an abuse of 

discretion.  The Clark court, however, stated this proposition in the context of deciding whether it 

should exercise its own discretion to reach Clark’s LFO challenge.  Clark, 191 Wn. App. at 372.  

To make that decision, the Clark court first needed to decide whether a $500 fine imposed under 

RCW 9A.20.021 was a cost that could be challenged as a discretionary LFO.  Clark, 191 Wn. App. 

at 372.  To answer that question, the court engaged in a straightforward de novo legal analysis and 

determined that this fine was not “a court cost subject to the strictures of  RCW 10.01.160(3)” and 

that the trial court was therefore not required to conduct an inquiry into the defendant’s ability to 

pay it.  Clark, 191 Wn. App. at 376.  Thus, Clark cannot be read to stand for a general rule that the 

ability to pay LFOs under Blazina is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.   

 Clark, however, did cite State v. Bertrand and State v. Baldwin for the rule that “[t]he trial 

court’s factual determination concerning a defendant’s resources and ability to pay is reviewed 

under the ‘clearly erroneous’ standard.”  Clark, 191 Wn. App. at 372 (quoting State v. Bertrand, 

165 Wn. App. 393, 403-04, 267 P.3d 511 (2011)); State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2037649789&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I774230305bc911e794a1f7ff5c621124&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2026638998&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=I31fb042691cf11e5b4bafa136b480ad2&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1991179718&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I31fb042691cf11e5b4bafa136b480ad2&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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P.2d 1116 (1991).  Baldwin, though, relied in part on the rule, discredited in Blazina, see 182 

Wn.2d at 832 n.1, that the meaningful time to evaluate a defendant’s ability to pay is at the time 

of collection.  Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. at 310-11.  Further, the information in the presentence report 

relied on by the Baldwin court fell well short of the inquiry now demanded by Blazina.  Bertrand, 

in turn, held that the trial court’s finding that the defendant had the ability to pay LFOs was clearly 

erroneous because it lacked support in the record. 

 Whatever uncertainty may lie in these pre-Blazina decisions, they and Clark are clear that 

we do not review the determination of ability to pay for an abuse of discretion.  Ramirez’s 

challenge, though, is to the adequacy of the trial court’s inquiry into his ability to pay.  This issue 

has a factual side, the determination of what in fact the court considered and, after Blazina, a legal 

facet, the determination whether the court’s consideration complied with the requirements of 

Blazina.  The factual side may, as here, often be decided simply by examining the record.  The 

heart of the issue on this appeal revolves instead around whether the inquiry complied with the 

requirements of Blazina, an unalloyed legal question.  As with Clark’s decision whether a fine 

under RCW 9A.20.021 can be challenged as an LFO, the decision whether the trial court’s inquiry 

was adequate under Blazina should be reviewed as legal questions typically are, de novo.  

Anything more deferential would risk the robust and consistent implementation of Blazina that the 

importance of its principles demands.    

 Turning to the adequacy of the inquiry into ability to pay, Blazina held that 

[t]he record must reflect that the trial court made an individualized inquiry into the 

defendant’s current and future ability to pay.  Within this inquiry, the court must 

also consider important factors, as amici suggest, such as incarceration and a 

defendant’s other debts, including restitution, when determining a defendant’s 

ability to pay. 
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182 Wn.2d at 838.  The information elicited about Ramirez’s financial status was that he was 

working a minimum wage job at Weyerhaeuser as “a temporary service team,” was paying all the 

household bills, and had opened a bank account for the first time in his life.    

 This data, admittedly, is individualized in that it refers to Ramirez.  Blazina, though, 

rejected rote or formulaic treatment of this inquiry, such as reliance on boilerplate findings.  

Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 838.  Instead, the court recognized that assessing LFOs on those without 

the reasonable ability to pay them can shackle defendants to the criminal justice system long after 

their release and raise temptations to reoffend that our law is designed to still.  See Blazina, 182 

Wn.2d at 836-37.  To avoid this damage, Blazina required an effective inquiry and categorically 

stated that in this inquiry, “the court must also consider important factors, as amici suggest, such 

as incarceration and a defendant’s other debts, including restitution, when determining a 

defendant’s ability to pay.”  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 838.   

 The record does not reflect that the trial court inquired into Ramirez’s debts, education or 

work experience.  It does reflect that Ramirez had opened a bank account, but is devoid of any 

information about its size.  The only information about his debts was his declaration on his motion 

for an order of indigency, granted by the court, that he had no income or assets and owed more 

than $10,000.  Thus, the court’s cursory inquiry fails to include mandatory elements established 

by Blazina and only reinforces the vicious circle that Blazina was designed to end.  The 

consequences of the inadequate inquiry were compounded by the imposition of a payment rate of 

$25 per month.  Our Supreme Court has recognized that on average, a person who pays $25 per 
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month toward their LFOs at the statutory interest rate will owe the state more 10 years after 

conviction than when the LFOs were initially assessed.  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 836.   

 Finally, in addition to its strong and precise directives, the Supreme Court in Blazina held 

that if “someone does meet the GR 34 standard for indigency, courts should seriously question that 

person’s ability to pay LFOs.”  Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 839.  Ramirez was found indigent.  

However, instead of respecting the admonition of GR 34, the court’s inquiry failed to ask about 

the specific features required by Blazina and imposed payments that would only increase his debt 

if he made them.  In no manner can this be deemed serious questioning of Ramirez’s ability to pay. 

 For these reasons, I would, under de novo review, reverse the imposition of LFOs and 

remand for the trial court to determine whether LFOs should be imposed, following the standards 

in Blazina. 

      _____________________________ 
      BJORGEN, C.J. 
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